1960

Leo I. Tannehill v. Lewis N. Terry : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal by plaintiff from a judgment upon a verdict of No Cause of Action (R. 62). This action was for personal injuries alleged to have resulted when plaintiff was hit in the head with a golf club negligently swung by defendant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff visited defendant at the latter's home in Ogden on Sunday afternoon, May 4, 1958 at approximately 3:30 or 4:00 o'clock. Defendant had just bought a set of golf clubs and had been taking golf lessons (R. 5). Defendant suggested they go to the back of his place and knock a few balls. Defendant had some small, plastic practice balls (R. 5). The defendant's house faced the north and the two went out the south, or back, door on to a platform and then down some steps to a sidewalk which ran east and west. To the south of this sidewalk was grass. Defendant placed a cocoa mat on the grass, placed a ball on it and hit it to the east, or to his left (Tr. 7). Defendant then placed another ball on the mat for plaintiff to hit (Tr. 7). As plaintiff grasped the club defendant told him he was not holding it correctly. He then came over and took the club from plaintiff and defendant proceeded to show plaintiff how to hold the club and position his body (Tr. 8).

The foregoing facts are not in dispute. At this point a dispute arises between the parties. According to defendant, he stated: "Leo, (plaintiff), will you get out of the way, I am going to hit the ball" (Tr. 44). Plaintiff denied that any such warning was given him. He testified that defendant told him to stand off to the left and told him to watch the position of his body and the angle of the club. Plaintiff testified that that is when he was hit (Tr. 8).

Again the parties are in agreement as to what occurred thereafter.

Defendant testified that after he had addressed the ball it took him some time to get in proper position to hit it. He testified "I had been told to keep my head down, I assumed Leo was out of the road because I told him to get out of the road, and I swung and hit him" (Tr. 44). Defendant stated that he did not look to see whether plaintiff actually got out of the way (Tr. 51). He admitted that he did not know where plaintiff was at the time he swung (Tr. 52). Plaintiff was hit on the follow through part of the swing.

Plaintiff fell back on the steps and the next thing he knew someone had raised him up. He was sitting on the sidewalk and blood was coming from his head (Tr. 8). He was given a towel to absorb the flow of blood and was taken to a hospital. The outer table of bone of the front sinus immediately to the left of the nose, was broken through. He also received a subluxated coccyx when he fell against the steps.

The case was submitted to a jury and the jury returned a verdict of No Cause of Action (R. 56). Plaintiff contends the trial court committed error in its instructions to the jury.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING ASSUMPTION OF RISK TO THE JURY.

POINT II.

THE INSTRUCTION ON ASSUMPTION OF RISK WAS AN INACCURATE STATEMENT OF THE LAW ON SAID SUBJECT.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING ASSUMPTION OF RISK TO THE JURY.

The trial court by its Instruction No. 8 (R. 19), submitted the issue of assumption of risk to the jury. It is the contention of plaintiff that this issue should not have been submitted to the jury in a case with the factual situation presented here. The only defense involved here was that of contributory negligence.

Under the facts of this case defendant was under a continuing obligation to be careful in connection with his swinging of the club. This duty was present right up until the time plaintiff was struck. This is not a situation where defendant had no duty toward the plaintiff after he had given his so-called warning. He admitted that he addressed the ball for some space of time and that he did not know where plaintiff was, nor even look to see where he was at the time he swung his club. There is no evidence that the plaintiff consented to this type of conduct or danger.

In 2 *Harper & James, the Law of Torts*, §21.1, p. 1162, the authorities speak of the two distinct types of so-called assumption of risk:

“(1) In its primary sense the plaintiff’s assumption of a risk is only the counterpart of the defendant’s lack of duty to protect the plaintiff from that risk. In such a case plaintiff may not recover for his injury even though he was quite reasonable in encountering the risk that caused it. *Volenti non fit injuria*. (2) A plaintiff may also be said to assume a risk created by defendant’s breach of duty towards him, when he deliberately chooses to encounter that risk. In such a case, except possibly in master and servant cases, plaintiff will be barred from recovery only if he was unreasonable in encountering the risk under the circumstances. This is a form of contributory negligence. Hereafter we shall call this ‘assumption of risk in a secondary sense.’”

We submit that the only real defense of assumption of risk is the first type, that the second type is, and can only be, contributory negligence. Our contention on this is confirmed by the Restatement of the Law of Torts. There is no distinct defense of assumption of risk therein treated. The only place assumption of risk is considered is under the heading of contributory negligence. See 2 *Restatement of the Law of Torts*, § 466. In order for there to be contributory negligence there must not only be an intentional exposure to danger created by defendant’s negligence, but, also, that exposure must be unreasonable. This latter element is not set forth in the court’s instruction on assumption of risk.

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah, in two comparatively recent cases, has rejected the defense of assumption of risk as applicable to the cases being con-

sidered. *Clay v. Dunford*, 120 Utah 177, 239 P.2d 1075 (1952); *Johnson v. Maynard*, 9 Utah 2d 268, 342 P.2d 884 (1959). In discussing the elements of this defense this court, in the *Clay* case, stated:

“The texts referred to by defendant in support of its position that the deceased assumed the risk, do not seem to bear out such position. They say that ‘The doctrine of assumption of risk in an action between persons not master and servant, or not having relations by contract with each other, is confined to cases where the plaintiff not only *knew* and *appreciated* the danger, but *voluntarily put himself in the way of it*,’ and that ‘The essential elements of assumed risk are *knowledge*, actual or implied, by the plaintiff of a *specific* defect or dangerous condition caused by the negligence of the defendant in the violation of some duty owing to the plaintiff, * * * together with the plaintiff’s *appreciation* of the danger to be encountered and his *voluntary exposure* of himself to it.’ They also clearly set forth the distinctions between the doctrines of assumption of risk and contributory negligence.

“The uncontroverted evidence showed that at the time of the accident the deceased was standing on the shoulder of the highway where vehicles ordinarily do not travel, with his back turned to the oncoming truck, completely negating knowledge or appreciation of the specific danger, and negating any intention voluntarily to expose himself to a known danger, — elements which must be established before the defense of assumption of risk is applicable.”

In the *Johnson* case this court stated concerning assumption of risk:

“The fundamental consideration underlying it is that one should not be permitted to knowingly and voluntarily incur an obvious risk of personal harm when he has the ability to avoid doing so, and then hold another responsible for his injury. Its essential elements are: knowledge of a danger and a free and voluntary consent to assume it.

“Under any reasonable view of the evidence here the conduct of the plaintiff would not fall within the requisites of the doctrine of assumption of risk. This was the type of hazard which would exist at practically every intersection where there is much traffic. It is not shown that plaintiff was aware of the particular danger involved in the approach of the defendant’s car, nor that having such knowledge, she nevertheless assumed the risk of such danger and proceeded. The true issue of fact to be determined as to her conduct was the usual one: did she use the care which an ordinary, reasonable and prudent person would have done under the circumstances. That is, was she guilty of contributory negligence.”

Some authorities make the distinction that contributory negligence is carelessness and assumption of risk is venturousness. There certainly is nothing venturous about the plaintiff’s conduct in this case. It was a question of whether or not he exercised ordinary care for his own safety at the time he was hit. In distinguishing between these two defenses, the court, in *Kleppe v. Prawl*, 181 Kan. 590, 313 P. 2d 227, 63 A.L.R. 2d 175, stated as follows:

“While assumption of risk is somewhat akin to contributory negligence, these two doctrines

of law are not synonymous because assumption of risk arises through implied contract of assuming the risk of a known danger; the essence of it is venturousness; it implies intentional exposure to a known danger; it embraces a mental state of willingness; it pertains to the preliminary conduct of getting into a dangerous employment or relation; it means voluntarily incurring the risk of an accident, which may not occur, and which the person assuming the risk may be careful to avoid; it defeats recovery because it is a previous abandonment of the right to complain if an accident occurs. Contributory negligence arises out of a tort; the essence of it is carelessness; it may or may not imply intentional exposure to a known danger; it is a matter of conduct; a contributorily negligent act leads more immediately to a specific accident.

“Another difference is that assumption of risk denies defendant’s negligence while contributory negligence admits defendant’s negligence but denies it is the proximate cause of the accident. 65 CJS Negligence § 117, pp 709-11; 38 Am. Jur., Negligence, § 172, p. 847.”

A case very similar to the one at bar is *Brady v. Kane* (Fla.), 111 So. 2d 472 (1959). In that case plaintiff was hit in the head with a golf club. In rejecting the defense of assumption of risk, the court stated:

“Appellee contended that appellant assumed the risk of the injury which occurred. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the party moved against, that defense was not applicable on the facts as they stood at the close of the plaintiff’s case. Therefore, at the least, the question was one for the jury. ‘Voluntary ex-

posure is the bedrock upon which the doctrine of assumed risk rests. Appreciation of the danger is an essential to the defense of assumption of risk * *.’ *Bartholf v. Baker*, Fla., 1954, 71 So. 2d 480, 483. A member of a golfing foursome assumes certain obvious and ordinary risks of the sport by participating therein with knowledge of its normal dangers, but a player does not assume a risk which cannot reasonably be anticipated, and which may be the result of improper and unauthorized negligent action of another player.”

The defense of assumption of risk is really a misnomer. What it amounts to is either relieving the defendant of a duty of ordinary care toward plaintiff, or it is a failure on the part of the plaintiff to take reasonable care for his own safety. In speaking of this defense, it is stated in 2 *Harper & James, The Law of Torts*, § 21.8, p. 1191:

“The doctrine of assumption of risk, however it is analyzed and defined, is in most of its aspects a defendant’s doctrine which restricts liability and so cuts down the compensation of accident victims. It is a heritage of the extreme individualism of the early industrial revolution. But quite aside from any questions of policy or of substance, the concept of assuming the risk is purely duplicative of other more widely understood concepts, such as scope of duty or contributory negligence. The one exception is to be found perhaps, in those cases where there is an actual agreement. Moreover, the expression has come to stand for two or three distinct notions which are not at all the same, though they often overlap in the sense that they are applicable to the same situation.

“Except for express assumption of risk, therefore, the term and the concept should be abolished. It adds nothing to modern law except confusion. For the most part the policy of individualism it represents is outmoded in accident law; where it is not, that policy can find full scope and far better expression in other language. There is only one thing that can be said for assumption of risk. In the confusion it introduces, it sometimes — ironically and quite capriciously — leads to a relaxation of an overstrict rule in some other field. The aura of disfavor that has come to surround it may occasionally turn out to be the kiss of death to some other bad rule with which it has become associated. We have seen how this may happen with the burden of pleading and proving an exceptional limitation on the scope of defendant’s duty. There may be other instances. But at best this sort of thing is a poor excuse indeed for continuing the confusion of an unfortunate form of words.”

It is submitted that the giving of this instruction was error and that it could only lead to confusion and mislead the jury. This doctrine had no proper place in the case.

POINT II.

THE INSTRUCTION ON ASSUMPTION OF RISK WAS AN INACCURATE STATEMENT OF THE LAW ON SAID SUBJECT.

Even if it were conceded that assumption of risk was properly an issue in the case, the court committed manifest error in the instruction itself. It did not limit this so-called defense to the proposition that plaintiff must know and appreciate the danger. The court per-

mitted this defense to exist in the event that plaintiff knew, or in the exercise of ordinary care should have known that a danger existed in the conduct of defendant. The trial court's Instruction No. 8 (R. 19) embodies this defense, which is defendant's requested Instruction No. 14 (R. 43). The defendant invited this manifest error. The court instructed the jury:

"Instruction No. 8

"There is a legal phrase commonly referred to be the term 'assumption of risk' which is as follows:

"One is said to assume a risk when he voluntarily assents to dangerous conduct and voluntarily exposes himself to that danger, or when he knows, or *in the exercise of ordinary care should know*, that a danger exists in the conduct of another, and voluntarily places himself, or remains, in a position of danger. One who has thus assumed the risk is not entitled to recover for damage caused to him without intention, and which results from the dangerous condition or conduct to which he thus exposed himself." (Italics ours)

If there is anything clear in the law of assumption of risk it is that plaintiff must know and appreciate the danger involved. An instruction almost exactly the same as this was held prejudicial error in *Johnson v. Maynard*, 9 Utah 2d 268, 342 P. 2d 884. In speaking of the instruction in that case the court stated:

"It is further to be observed that the court did not correctly instruct the jury on assumption of risk had it been applicable. In the first portion

of Instruction No. 7 he correctly imposed the requirement that, 'she freely, voluntarily and knowingly manifest * * * her assent to dangerous conduct * * *.' but later in the same instruction explained that it would be applicable if the plaintiff knows, '* * * or in the exercise of ordinary care *would know*, that danger exists * * *.' The latter statement is in error because it would permit a finding of assumption of risk, exonerating the defendant from liability, without actual knowledge of such danger on the part of the plaintiff."

In *Rogers v. Los Angeles Transit Lines*, 45 Cal. 2d 414, 289 P. 2d 226 (1955), it was held that the trial court properly refused to give a request similar to that made by defendant and given in this case. The court stated:

"Transit Lines and Feb claim error in the refusal to give their offered instruction on assumption of risk. Suffice it to say the offered instruction was erroneous in that it advised the jury that plaintiff would assume the risk if in the exercise of ordinary care he would have known and appreciated the danger rather than that he must have knowledge of the danger."

In *Garcia v. San Gabriel Ready Mix*, 155 Cal. App. 2d 568, 318 P. 2d 145 (1957) the court pointed out how important this matter of knowledge is. It there stated:

"However many instructions on assumption of the risk may be given, and however they may be worded, one essential is that the jury be told that a person must know what risk he assumes."

We submit that this instruction was completely erroneous in permitting assumption of risk to be found

under circumstances where plaintiff in the exercise of ordinary care, should have known that a danger existed.

CONCLUSION

We submit that the trial court not only committed error in permitting a jury to pass upon the defense of assumption of risk, but also committed error in its definition of this defense. We submit that the verdict in favor of defendant "No Cause of Action" should be reversed and plaintiff granted a new trial.