1960

# Leo I. Tannehill v. Lewis N. Terry : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant in his brief has made a statement of facts which is considered to be sufficient, generally speaking, for the purpose of this appeal. However, we have marshalled additional pertinent facts which we respectfully invite the court's attention to and desire that they be considered as a supplement to the appellant's statement.

Plaintiff had watched the defendant hit one practice ball

(Tr. 7). He was also familiar with the fact that when a person strikes a golf ball with a golf club that there is a backswing and follow-through (Tr. 17 & 18). When plaintiff stepped forward to hit a ball he was immediately told by defendant that he was not holding the club properly and was told to stand aside and watch the defendant show him how to swing (Tr. 21). Defendant told plaintiff to observe the angle of the club as it came down in his hands and the angle of his body (Tr. 21). He stood off to the side of the defendant and watched the defendant raise the club and observed defendant's backswing, immediately prior to being struck (Tr. 23). Plaintiff did nothing when he saw the defendant begin to swing the club and in fact admitted watching the defendant's action but did not move from the time he noticed defendant addressing the ball until he was struck by the club (Tr. 23 & 39).

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUBMITTING THE QUESTION OF ASSUMPTION OF RISK TO THE JURY.

### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS INSTRUCTION ON ASSUMPTION OF RISK AS APPLIED TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE, AND SUCH INSTRUCTION WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL TO THE PLAINTIFF.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUBMITTING THE QUESTION OF ASSUMPTION OF RISK TO THE JURY.

On page four of plaintiff's brief, he admits receiving a warning from the defendant and subsequent to this warning, the defendant addressed the ball for some time before swinging the club. Plaintiff further admits that he is familiar with the way a golf club is swung and that he himself has done so (Tr. 17). Plaintiff stood back and watched the defendant address the ball and then swing the club without taking any precautions for his own safety (Tr. 23 and 39). It is submitted that the plaintiff, by standing near the defendant and at all times watching him, could not help but have full knowledge that the defendant was going to swing the club. He also testified to knowing the way a golf club is swung from watching others, and admitted that on this very day and immediately prior to the accident, he had observed the defendant swing the club. Plaintiff could not help but have been aware of the simple fact that if he stood too close to the defendant while the defendant was swinging the golf club, that he very likely would be struck by the club. This is purely a case of voluntary exposure to obvious danger, which was and should have been perfectly apparent to the plaintiff. We accordingly cannot agree with plaintiff's statement on page five of his brief wherein he says:

"We submit that the only real defense of assumption of risk is the first type, that the second type is, and can only be, contributory negligence."

This court, in the case of *Clay vs. Dunford*, 121 Utah 177, 239 Pac. 2d 1075, has said otherwise:

“The essential elements of assumed risk are knowledge, *actual or implied*, by the plaintiff of a specific defect or dangerous condition caused by the *negligence of the defendant in violation of some duty owing to the plaintiff, . . .*” (Italics ours).

Thus, we respectfully submit, that this court has clearly held that there may be an assumption of risk although the defendant does owe a duty to the plaintiff.

Plaintiff further argues on page five of his brief:

“In order for there to be contributory negligence there must not only be an intentional exposure to danger created by defendant’s negligence, but, also, that exposure must be unreasonable.”

This is not a correct statement of the law and such reasoning is obviously fallacious. It would eliminate the defense of contributory negligence where the plaintiff negligently exposed himself to danger without any intent. The authorities opposing plaintiff’s reasoning are too numerous to mention.

A careful review of *Clay vs. Dunford*, *Supra*, will reveal facts clearly distinguishing that case from the present case concerning the application of the doctrine of assumption of risk. In the *Clay* case, the plaintiff not only did not see the defendant’s vehicle but was walking with his back toward the vehicle. He was also not in a position on the roadway that would normally have been dangerous. In the present case, plaintiff admittedly looked and saw the defendant in a position preparing to swing and then watched him swing the golf club

(Tr. 23, 38, & 39). The peril was obvious to anyone who looked and saw, as did the plaintiff. Plaintiff also admitted that he watched the defendant swing at one ball and had watched other golfers swing at golf balls as well as having done so himself on occasion (Tr. 17, 18, 20, 21, 23, 38 and 39). Therefore, unlike the Clay case, our instant plaintiff did look, and did see, and accordingly the peril was obvious. The same distinguishing features are present in the instant case when compared with the case of Johnson vs. Maynard, 9 Utah 2d 268, 342 Pac. 2d 884, cited in plaintiff's brief. In the Johnson case, the plaintiff admittedly did not see the oncoming emergency vehicle and therefore could not be charged with assuming a risk when she was completely unaware of its presence.

The plaintiff has cited the case of Brady vs. Kane, 111 Southern 2d 472, as "a case very similar to the one at bar . . ." A review of the facts in the Brady case will readily disclose the lack of similarity. In that case, the plaintiff was one of a golf foursome. The players were on the tee, after having played several holes, and the plaintiff was standing behind the person preparing to drive the ball. Testimony was to the effect that the plaintiff was to be the second man to drive. While the first driver was addressing the ball the defendant, standing behind the other members of the foursome, and without warning, made a practice swing, striking the plaintiff in the head. The facts clearly show that plaintiff was watching the person preparing to drive and was looking down the fairway. He had his back turned to the defendant when the injury occurred. We respectfully submit that there is no similarity of facts whatsoever inasmuch as the plaintiff in the instant case has admitted observing the movements of the defendant



before he swung the club. He was also warned by the defendant to stand back and observe his movements, while he prepared to further demonstrate how to properly swing a golf club. In the Brady case, the court further said:

“A member of a golfing foursome assumes certain obvious and ordinary risks of the sport by participating therein with knowledge of its normal dangers . . . ”

This clearly demonstrates that anyone familiar with the sport must realize that you cannot stand within club's distance of the person about to swing without assuming the risk of being struck by the club. Such is true of other sports, including baseball, tennis, or hockey, etc.

In our instant case, the plaintiff, after having been warned to step back, apparently chose a position so close to the defendant that he must have known there was a very great probability that he would be struck with the club when the defendant proceeded with his demonstration.

We see little point in belaboring this court with a lengthy discussion concerning plaintiff's argument in his brief wherein he apparently denies that there can be an assumption of risk doctrine applied where the defendant is negligent, for the reason that plaintiff's own authorities do not support him in that respect. In the cited case of *Rogers vs. Los Angeles Transit Lines*, 45 Cal. 2d 414, 289 Pac. 2d 226, the court said:

“While a person, if fully informed, may assume the risk even though the dangerous condition is caused by the *negligence of others*.” (Italics ours).

The court then cited *Prescott vs. Ralph's Grocery Company*,

42 Cal. 2d 158, 265 Pac. 2d 904, and quoting from that case stated:

“The plaintiff does not assume the risk of any negligence which he has no reason to anticipate, but once he is fully informed of it, it is well settled that the risks arising from such negligence may be assumed.”

See also Prosser on Torts, page 385.

The case of *Garcia vs. San Gabriel Ready Mix Company*, 155 Cal. Appeal 2d 568, 318 Pac. 2d 145, cited by the plaintiff, is of little help as the facts in that case indicated that the plaintiff could understand but very little English and the defendant's employee could not understand the plaintiff's language and as a result plaintiff obviously did not understand the risk or danger involved through his conversations with the workman. The Supreme Court of California in the case of *Prescott vs. Ralph's Grocery Company*, supra, further said:

“As we have seen, the elements of assumption of risk are a person's knowledge and appreciation of the danger involved and his voluntary acceptance of the risk. It follows that a person, if he is fully informed, may assume a risk even though the dangerous condition is caused by the negligence of others. Indeed, the cases in which this defense is applied, usually involve dangerous conditions created by the negligence of another.”

Suffice it to say, this court does recognize the doctrine of assumption of risk when applied to appropriate facts where defendant's negligence or lack of due care has created a dangerous situation which plaintiff could have, but voluntarily and deliberately fails to avoid and thereby assumes the risk of being injured.

We therefore respectfully submit that in our instant case the trial court properly submitted assumption of risk to the jury.

## POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS INSTRUCTION ON ASSUMPTION OF RISK AS APPLIED TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE, AND SUCH INSTRUCTION WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL TO THE PLAINTIFF.

Defendant respectfully submits that the court's instruction on assumption of risk was a correct statement of the law as applied to the factual situation herein and was in no way prejudicial to the plaintiff. The undisputed evidence clearly shows that the plaintiff saw the defendant about to swing the club, as the defendant took some time to address the ball. Plaintiff admitted having been told to stand back and observe the defendant and his actions. He admits that he did stand back and stood observing the defendant address the ball and swing the club. He apparently did nothing to remove himself from the obvious condition of peril in which he voluntarily placed himself. His own testimony clearly shows that he was aware of the conditions as they existed, and stood by and watched the defendant swing the club which thereafter struck him in the head. We respectfully submit that under these circumstances, the court's instruction fairly and adequately covered the factual situation and there has been no showing in plaintiff's brief that such instruction was in any manner prejudicial to plaintiff or his cause.

As this court recently said in the case of *Ferguson vs. Jongsma*, 350 Pac. 2d 404, decided March 22, 1960, speaking through Mr. Justice Wade:

“If the instruction is based on a factual situation which would support a finding of contributory negligence but the instruction erroneously called it assumption of risk, this alone would not be prejudicial error.”

In the aforementioned Instruction No. 8, the trial court correctly set forth the law as it applied to our instant factual situation. The court said in effect that if plaintiff knew of the dangerous conduct of the defendant, or that he should have known of such from the perfectly obvious conduct of the defendant, and that plaintiff with this knowledge voluntarily placed himself or remained in the position of danger, then plaintiff assumed the risk and if the jury so found, then he would not be entitled to recover from the defendant any damage caused to him without intention on the part of the defendant.

We are unable to visualize a more appropriate factual situation than the one at hand to apply the doctrine of assumption of risk. Certainly plaintiff cannot contend that he didn't have knowledge of the dangerous situation as it then existed any more than a person sitting as a spectator in the grandstand at a baseball game could say that no risk had been assumed after being struck by a ball hit by one of the batters in the game. The facts unequivocally show that the instant plaintiff voluntarily and deliberately failed to avoid the situation and certainly thereby assumed the risk of any injury he may have sustained when struck by the golf club. The mere fact that plaintiff failed to take any action to duck or step aside indicates

that he accepted the obvious, and thereby brought himself within an area where this doctrine would be applicable. At any rate, under both the doctrine of contributory negligence and assumption of risk, *whether the plaintiff failed to use due care for his own safety or he deliberately assumed the risk of injury in the face of known danger*, was a jury question (italics ours). See *Ferguson vs. Jongsma*, supra. Also, *Esernia vs. Overland Moving Company*, 1949, 115 Utah 519, 205 Pac. 2d 621.

Plaintiff undoubtedly contends that he didn't know that defendant intended to swing the club and only that he thought defendant would merely make a backswing. The evidence fails to support this contention, particularly when defendant testified: "Leo, will you get out of the way. I am going to hit the ball" (Tr. 44). Thus it became a jury question as to what occurred and the trial court properly submitted the case to the jury on both theories of contributory negligence and assumption of risk insofar as the affirmative defense aspect of the case was concerned. We accordingly respectfully submit that the court was not in error in its Instruction No. 8 as given to the jury.

## CONCLUSION

We respectfully and earnestly contend that the trial court lawfully and properly submitted the defense of assumption of risk to the jury and that the instruction to the jury in that respect was proper and not prejudicial to the plaintiff. We further submit that the verdict in favor of the defendant and against

the plaintiff "No Cause of Action" should be affirmed on this appeal.